172 King St. (north halves of Lots 3 and 4, north side of Kent St.)
Architectural Description:

This two-and-a-half-storey home features a two-storey gabled bay window, and a unique
one-storey bay window which protrudes at a ninety-degree angle from the southeast corner of
the building. The house has undergone significant exterior alterations since it was built. The 1914
fire insurance maps (See Appendix 2) indicate that the building was wooden, though the
photographs from the 1979 survey show a brick exterior (likely Insulbrick; See Appendix 3). The
exterior has currently been restored to wooden clapboard siding. The porch has also been altered
since the 1979 survey, from a two-storied porch with an enclosed lower storey, to a one-storied
covered porch with two open sides. A window in the upper half-storey with a shingled gable has
also appeared since the 1979 survey photos, likely an original feature that has been uncovered.
The verandah that appears on the south side of the building in the 1914 fire insurance map was
enclosed at some point prior to the 1979 photos (See Appendix 3). The interior of the home
features what appears to be much of the original hardwood trim, French doors, wainscotting, and
crown moulding (See Appendix 4). The original trim, doors, and window sashes would have been
made at the Augustine Planing Mill, which was owned by the contractors who built the house.

Historical Significance:

One of the early settlers of Port Colborne, Jeremiah Barnhart, had bought lots 3 and 4 on
the north side of Kent St. from the estate of W.H. Merritt in 1862, and farmed the property while
living in the residence which he built on the south half of the lots, presently 164 King St. (See
Appendix 1). In 1890, he sold the property to Samuel Hopkins Sr., a “supremely successful”
merchant, tug owner, and speculator, and the defendant in the famous breach of promise case
brought forward by Arabella Williams. In 1899, Hopkins sold the land to his great niece, Alice A.M.
Hopkins.

The contract for the two-and-a-half-storey home that stands at 172 King St., Port Colborne
was commissioned in 1900 by Alice A.M. Hopkins, a local music teacher and the organist at St.
James Anglican Church, and her brother Leopold E.J. Hopkins, a merchant. The building contract
was awarded to Augustine and Son, contractors as well as proprietors of the Augustine’s Planing
Mill, which was on Davis St. It is highly probable much of the original trim, doors, and windows
are from that mill. At the time of the commission, Alice A.M. Hopkins owned the property on
which the home was built — the north halves of Lots 3 and 4 on the north side of Kent St. —though
she sold it to her brother in 1902 following his marriage.

Alice A.M. Hopkins, known also as Allie Hopkins, offered music lessons from the house in
voice, piano, and theory, having a Trinity University Certificate. Records suggest that until her
marriage in 1907, Alice A.M. Hopkins continued to live in the house along with her brother, his
wife, Alice M. Hopkins, and their daughter, Alice A.B. Hopkins. The latter seems to have taken



over her aunt’s music teaching business after Alice A.M. Hopkins’ departure. Alice A.B. Hopkins
continued to reside in the home until the 1960s, where she offered music lessons for much of
that time.

Leopold E.J. Hopkins was head clerk at a dry goods store at the time when the house was
constructed, and by the end of his life he owned several businesses in Port Colborne. He was such
a prominent and well-respected citizen that on the day of his funeral, all the shops in town shut
down business for an hour, and the mayor at the time, H.H. Knoll, was among the pallbearers.



Appendix 1  Abstract Lot 3 north side of Kent St.
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Appendix3 1979 Heritage Inventory and Assessment Project Contact Prints










Appendix4 The Scarlett Real Estate Group, Screenshots taken from
https://youtube.com/watch?v=-CG-4gy3ZrY, Accessed 8 November 2023
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Appendix #5 Advertisement for Alice Hopkins, Music Teacher 27 Oct 1931
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